Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



(This is a sample cover image for this issue. The actual cover is not yet available at this time.)

This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

# Author's personal copy

The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology 44 (2012) 1436-1443

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

# The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biocel

# Molecular basis for sculpting the endoplasmic reticulum membrane

## Shaoyu Lin, Sha Sun, Junjie Hu\*

Department of Genetics and Cell Biology, College of Life Sciences, Nankai University, and Tianjin Key Laboratory of Protein Sciences, 94 Weijin Road, Tianjin 300071, China

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 March 2012 Received in revised form 17 May 2012 Accepted 17 May 2012 Available online xxx

Keywords: Endoplasmic reticulum ER tubules ER sheets Organelle shaping Membrane fusion

### ABSTRACT

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is involved in many critical processes, including protein and lipid synthesis and calcium storage. Morphologically, the ER can be divided into two subdomains: a network of interconnected tubules and interspersed sheets. Until recently, how these different compartments form in a continuous membrane system was unclear. Several classes of integral membrane proteins have been identified in the ER; the reticulons and DP1/Yop1p play roles in the generation of ER tubules, and possibly in stabilizing ER sheets, atlastins and Sey1p are dynamin-like GTPases that facilitate tubular network formation by mediating ER membrane fusion, and Climp63, p180, and kinectin are enriched in ER sheets and influence their formation. In this review, we summarize recent advances in our understanding of how these proteins participate in ER shaping. We also discuss possible mechanisms for regulating ER morphology via the cytoskeleton. Lessons learned about sculpting the ER membrane may be applicable to other organelles.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	1436
2.	Formation of the tubular ER network	1437
	2.1. Generation of high-curvature in ER tubules	1437
	2.2. Generation of the tubular ER network by homotypic fusion	1437
3.	Formation of ER sheets	1439
	3.1. Sheet-enriched membrane proteins	1439
	3.2. Help from the tubule-forming proteins	1440
	3.3. Generation of the nuclear envelope	1440
4.	Regulation of ER morphology by the cytoskeleton	1441
5.	Conclusion	1441
	Acknowledgements	1441
	References	1441

#### 1. Introduction

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is a eukaryotic organelle with distinct morphology and key intracellular functions, such as the synthesis of secretory and membrane proteins. The continuous ER membrane system can be divided into sheet-like structures that

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +86 22 23507017; fax: +86 22 23507017.

E-mail address: huj@nankai.edu.cn (J. Hu).

include the nuclear envelope (NE) and most of the perinuclear ER, and a network of tubules that often extends throughout the periphery of the cell (Baumann and Walz, 2001; Shibata et al., 2006, 2009; Voeltz et al., 2002). ER sheets are formed by two relatively flat and closely spaced membranes, whereas ER tubules are enclosed singlemembrane structures with a diameter of roughly 30 nm in yeast cells (Bernales et al., 2006) or ~50 nm in mammalian cells (Fawcett, 1981). The ER is very dynamic, with sheets rearranging and tubules moving and fusing to form "three-way junctions" (Du et al., 2004; Lee and Chen, 1988).

The amounts of ER sheets and tubules are well balanced and tightly regulated in the cell. For example, recent work has shown that the cytoplasmic tubular ER represents approximately 1/3 of the total peripheral ER in wild-type yeast cells (West et al., 2011). The percentage of each morphological subdomain of the ER varies among different cell types, at different growth stages, and under



Review

Abbreviations: ER, endoplasmic reticulum; NE, nuclear envelope; OSER, organized smooth ER; ATL, atlastin; RHD3, Root Hair Defective 3; HSP, hereditary spastic paraplegia; TM, transmembrane; CT, C-terminal tail; ONM, outer nuclear membrane; INM, inner nuclear membrane; LINC, linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton; TAC, tip attachment complex; SUN, Sad1 and UNC-84 homology; KASH, klarsicht, ANC-1 and syne/nesprin homology; ALPS, ArfGAP1 lipid packing sensor; FRAP, fluorescence recovery after photobleaching; MVa, myosin-Va.

<sup>1357-2725/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2012.05.013

different conditions (Shibata et al., 2006). For example, during the yeast budding process, the bud contains mainly tubular ER at early stages (West et al., 2011); the ER in plant root cells is initially more cisternal but becomes predominantly tubular after maturation (Ridge et al., 1999). In contrast, professional secretory cells, such as pancreatic or plasma cells, are filled with layers of rough ER sheets densely studded with translating ribosomes. Retinal pigment epithelial cells contain stacked ER sheets that lack ribosomes, termed organized smooth ER (OSER) (Porter and Yamada, 1960), a structure that can also be induced by the over-expression of certain ER proteins (Snapp et al., 2003).

The intracellular distribution of ER membranes also varies among different species. In yeast and plant cells, the ER is commonly gathered in the cortex, a region found immediately beneath the plasma membrane. Some ER tubules or sheet-like cisternae traverse the cytosol to connect the cortical ER with the NE. As for the ER in mammalian cells, the sheets are condensed in the perinuclear region; the peripheral area of the cell is reached by a polygonal network of ER tubules.

Morphological ER domains have drawn the attention of researchers not only because of their morphology, but also because of their critical functions. The wide distribution of the tubular ER network make it a popular site for interactions with other intracellular structures, such as mitochondria and the cytoskeleton, and possibly for lipid synthesis and Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling. The high-curvature in the cross-section of the tubules would also allow a quick start for vesicle budding. Recently, the ER exit sites where COPII vesicles are generated to mediate ER-to-Golgi transport were shown to reside mainly in the high-curvature regions of the ER (Okamoto et al., 2012). On the other hand, the relatively flat surface of the ER sheets is preferred by polysomes, and is a hotspot for protein synthesis. Defects in ER morphology, particularly the loss of tubular ER, can cause retarded growth in budding yeast and decreased embryonic survival in Caenorhabditis elegans (Audhya et al., 2007; Voeltz et al., 2006), as well as a neurodegenerative disease known as hereditary spastic paraplegia (HSP) in humans (Hu et al., 2009). These facts strongly suggest that vital functions of the ER rely on its morphological integrity.

How are characteristic features generated and maintained in the ER? How are ER dynamics achieved and regulated? In studies addressing these questions, the reticulons and DP1/Yop1p were found to induce high-curvature in ER tubules (Voeltz et al., 2006), and a class of membrane-bound, dynamin-like GTPases called atlastins (ATLs) were implicated in the fusion of ER membranes (Hu et al., 2009; Orso et al., 2009) (Fig. 1). Several mechanisms for generating the peripheral ER sheets, which involve the reticulons and proteins that are enriched in sheets, have been explored (Shibata et al., 2010). In addition, ER shape is regulated through external forces generated by the cytoskeleton. Based on these findings, we will discuss possible mechanisms and research directions for ER shaping and remodeling.

#### 2. Formation of the tubular ER network

ER tubules differ from sheets in that they have high curvature in the membrane cross-section. ER tubules are likely generated by a mechanism of unidirectional membrane curving. Once the tubules are generated, they connect with each other through homotypic fusion to form a reticular network.

#### 2.1. Generation of high-curvature in ER tubules

The reticulons and DP1/Yop1p were identified as tubuleforming proteins that induce high-curvature in ER tubules (Voeltz et al., 2006). These proteins preferentially localize in the tubular region of the ER; sulfuric modification or antibodies against reticulons block the formation of the ER network *in vitro*, and overexpression or deletion of these proteins affects the amount of ER tubules (Voeltz et al., 2006). The ability of these integral membrane proteins to form tubules is best demonstrated in an *in vitro* reconstitution assay, in which reconstituted Yop1p or Rtn1p deform proteoliposomes into a tubular shape instead of a conventional spherical shape (Hu et al., 2008).

The primary structures of the reticulons and DP1/Yop1p are not conserved, but they both contain two hydrophobic segments that are too long for a single passage of the membrane bilayer. Thus, the transmembrane (TM) segments may form a hairpin in the membrane, allowing the protein to occupy more space in the outer leaflet than the inner leaflet, and inducing local curvature in the bilayer as a wedge insertion (Voeltz et al., 2006). This hypothesis is supported by the topology of the proteins, i.e. the N-terminus, Cterminus, and intervening loop of the two hydrophobic segments are all exposed to the cytosol (Voeltz et al., 2006). Recent studies have shown that both mammalian and plant reticulons suffer mislocalization and dysfunction when the hydrophobic segments are manipulated to disrupt the potential hairpins (Sparkes et al., 2010; Tolley et al., 2010; Zurek et al., 2011). The hairpin may be a common feature of integral membrane proteins that preferentially localize to curved membranes. Examples of such proteins include ATL, spastin, a microtubule-severing ATPase on the ER, and caveolin-1, one of the major structural components of the caveoli (Hu et al., 2009; Le Lan et al., 2006; Park et al., 2010; Parton et al., 2006; Shibata et al., 2009). The existence of hairpin-like transmembrane regions could be used as a criterion for predicting membrane proteins that may be involved in curvature generation or sensing.

Scaffolding is another mechanism commonly used by curvaturegenerating proteins. Scaffolds are usually created through protein oligomerization that leads to a curved shape (McMahon and Gallop, 2005; Praefcke and McMahon, 2004). Both the reticulons and DP1/Yop1p form oligomers in membranes, as shown by crosslinking, gradient centrifugation, and FRAP experiments (Shibata et al., 2008). The oligomerization of tubule-forming proteins could directly influence the diameter and abundance of ER tubules. Reticulon mutants with a lower tendency to oligomerize are not excluded from the NE and are unable to generate tubules in vitro and in vivo (Hu et al., 2008; Shibata et al., 2008). In addition, the over-expression of tubule-forming proteins in cells results in the constriction of ER tubules (Shibata et al., 2008). Reticulons and DP1/Yop1p oligomers probably form arc-like scaffolds around the tubules. Arc structures would allow efficient shaping with relatively low membrane occupancy and free diffusion of other membrane proteins in tubular ER membranes (Shibata et al., 2008). The assembly and disassembly of tubule-forming proteins are likely to be tightly regulated, possibly in an energy-dependent manner (Shibata et al., 2008).

The reticulons and DP1/Yop1p conceivably combine the "wedge insertion" and "scaffolding" mechanisms to shape ER tubules (Fig. 1). These tubule-forming proteins are necessary for ER tubules *in vivo* and sufficient for forming tubules in membranes *in vitro*. Nevertheless, tubular ER does not completely vanish after the deletion of all known tubule-forming proteins in budding yeast (Voeltz et al., 2006; West et al., 2011), suggesting that additional mechanisms for ER tubule formation are yet to be identified.

#### 2.2. Generation of the tubular ER network by homotypic fusion

After the tubules are formed and stabilized in the ER, they are connected into a reticular pattern. A class of membrane-bound GTPases, atlastins (ATLs), has recently entered center stage for homotypic ER fusion (Hu et al., 2009; Orso et al., 2009). ATLs mostly localize to the tubular ER and interact with the tubule-forming



Fig. 1. Mechanisms for generating the tubular ER network. Microtubules pull the tubules (green) out of ER membranes. Tubulins are showin yellow and lime. The reticulons and DP1/Yop1 (pink) induce and stabilize high curvature in ER tubules by inserting into the membrane as a "wedge" and forming an arc-like "scaffold". The atlastins (gray) connect the tubules to generate a reticular network.

proteins, mainly through their TM domains. Depletion of ATL leads to non-branched ER, suggesting compromised fusion between ER tubules. The same ER defects are observed when cells are transfected with ATL mutants with defective GTPase activity, or the N-terminal cytosolic domain or TM region only. Antibodies against ATL inhibit ER network formation in *in vitro* experiments using *Xenopus* egg extracts (Hu et al., 2009). More convincingly, purified *Drosophila* ATL mediates liposome fusion in a GTP-dependent manner *in vitro* (Orso et al., 2009). Taken together, these data support the notion that ATL mediates homotypic ER fusion.

Mutations in human ATL1 cause HSP (Zhao et al., 2001), a neurodegenerative disease caused by the shortening of the axons in corticospinal motor neurons, which leads to progressive spasticity and weakness of the lower limbs (Salinas et al., 2008). HSP is likely a result of a defect in ER morphology. Consistent with this hypothesis, spastin, another commonly mutated gene in HSP, may affect ER morphology indirectly by severing microtubules. In addition, REEP1, a homolog of tubule-forming protein DP1 (also known as REEP5) (Park et al., 2010), and reticulon 2 (Montenegro et al., 2012) were recently added to the list of HSP-causing genes, further suggesting morphological ER defects as the pathogenic mechanism for HSP. ATL knockout mice have not yet been reported, but knocking down ATL1 in primary neuron cultures leads to axon shortening, mimicking the pathological conditions of HSP (Zhu et al., 2006). Neuronal defects have been observed in both drosophila and zebrafish when ATL is depleted (Fassier et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2009). Taken together, these observations indicate that ER coherence and integrity is physiologically important.

Little is known about how homotypic fusion is achieved. The crystal structures of the N-terminal cytosolic domain of human ATL1 (cytATL1) provided new insight into ATL-mediated fusion (Bian et al., 2011; Byrnes and Sondermann, 2011). cytATL1 is composed of a GTPase domain and a three-helix bundle connected by a linker region. Two different conformations of cytATL1 have been observed. In the first conformation, two GTPase domains form a dimer with the nucleotide binding pockets facing each other, and the helical bundles associate with their own GTPase domains, pointing in opposite directions. The TM domains following the helical bundles are likely in two apposing membranes. This conformation would resemble a pre-fusion state. In the second conformation, the GTPase domains adopt similar positions, but the

helical bundles interact with the GTPase domains in the pairing molecules. The C-termini point in the same direction and are within close proximity. This conformation would represent a post-fusion state in which two ATL molecules reside in the same membrane. Biochemical data confirmed that GTP binding induces dimerization, and GTP hydrolysis and Pi release trigger conformational changes in both cytATL1 and the reconstituted full-length protein (Bian et al., 2011).

Notably, the interaction surfaces between the GTPase domain and three-helix bundle are very similar in pre-fusion and postfusion states; thus, the energy gain from the conformational change in the N-terminal cytosolic domain of ATL seems to be relatively small. Therefore, additional mechanisms are likely needed to complete ATL-mediated fusion. The conserved region of the C-terminal tail (CT) in ATL is predicted to be an amphipathic helix and to interact with the membrane. This region of ATL likely inserts into the lipid bilayer, a known feature of amphipathic helices, and destabilizes membranes to facilitate fusion. Consistent with this potential ability, truncation of the CT of ATL1 causes HSP. ATL has also been shown to have elevated GTPase activity in lipids than in detergents (Pendin et al., 2011). The stimulated GTPase activity may be a result of cooperativity mediated by the interactions between TM segments. Thus, the two TM segments and the CT of ATL may play important roles in the fusion process.

A simple model has been deduced (Fig. 2): ATL molecules form oligomers in the membrane and then interact from apposing ER membranes through GTP binding, tethering the membrane; upon coordinated GTP hydrolysis and Pi release, conformational changes occur to pull the two membranes into close proximity; the CT destabilizes the membrane to promote lipid-mixing and allow fusion; after ATL molecules reach the post-fusion state, GDP is released to reset the fusion machinery. In summary, this model suggests that GTP-mediated dimerization and helical bundle relocation are important for ATL-mediated fusion, and the TM and CT cooperate with the N-terminal cytosolic domain to achieve fusion. The model also provides some explanations regarding how ATL1 mutations cause HSP.

Not all eukaryotic species contain an ATL homolog, but analogous proteins, including Sey1p from *S. cerevisiae* and Root Hair Defective 3 (RHD3) from *A. thaliana*, have been found in species lacking ATL (Brands and Ho, 2002; Zheng et al., 2004). Sey1p and



**Fig. 2.** A model for ATL-mediated homotypic fusion of ER membranes. ATL oligomerizes through the TM segments, tethers apposing membranes upon GTP binding, hydrolizes GTP to induce conformational changes that pull membranes together, allow lipid mixing by perturbation of the CT, and fuses the ER membranes. After fusion, GDP is released to reset the machinery for a new cycle. ATL regions and the nucleotide states are indicated.

RHD3 maintain the same molecular architecture and membrane topology as ATL; both the N-terminal GTPase and CT face the cytosol and are connected by two closely spaced TM segments. More importantly, this class of dynamin-like GTPases shares a unique GTPase signature motif with GBP proteins, which distinguishes them from other large GTPases. This conservation suggests that Sey1p and RHD3 are functional analogs of ATL.

The possibility of Sey1p mediating homotypic ER fusion is further supported by recent studies (Anwar et al., 2012). Sey1p has been shown to interact with tubule-forming proteins Rtn1p and Yop1p in yeast; deletion of *SEY1* and either *RTN1* or *YOP1* causes defects in the tubular ER network. The fusion ability of Sey1p was confirmed *in vitro* with purified protein and *in vivo* during mating, and human ATL1 can partly rescue the loss of Sey1p, suggesting a functional similarity (Anwar et al., 2012). However, the deletion of only *SEY1* in yeast does not yield prominent non-branched ER tubules as in mammalian cells, or the ER fragmentation seen in *Drosophila*. These findings suggest that yeast cells fuse ER membranes *via* an additional mechanism. One candidate for this purpose is ER SNARE Ufe1p (Patel et al., 1998), because *ufe1–1sey1*  $\Delta$  displays a severe growth phenotype and disrupted ER shape. The overlapping ER fusogens found in yeast may reflect its unusual demands due to the existence of a very large cortical ER network.

The plant analog RHD3 (<u>Root Hair Defective 3</u>) is named after its mutant phenotype, short and wavy root hairs (Schiefelbein and Somerville, 1990). Similar to ATL proteins, RHD3 is ubiquitously expressed, and its mutations mostly affect root hair cells, which resembles ATL1 mutations in which the long axon-containing neuronal cells are most affected. RHD3 mutants also exhibit long, cable-like ER tubules in plant cells (Zheng et al., 2004). Surprisingly, Sey1p is not able to replace RHD3 in plants (Chen et al., 2011). Though these results need to be confirmed and the fusion ability of RHD3 remains to be tested, it is possible that RHD3 shares some features of ATLs and Sey1p in the generation of the tubular ER network, but it may have additional roles in plant cells.

#### 3. Formation of ER sheets

Both the peripheral ER sheets and the NE consist of two closely apposed membranes. To generate these cisternal structures, the distance between the two apposed membranes has to be maintained and the membrane curvature at the edge of the sheets has to be stabilized.

#### 3.1. Sheet-enriched membrane proteins

Candidates for shaping ER sheets were screened from among proteins that are enriched in ER sheets, particularly in professional secretory cells with proliferated ER sheets, or are significantly upregulated during the differentiation of these cells. Climp63, p180, and kinectin are among the proteins that fit the search criteria (Shibata et al., 2010). All of these proteins are enriched in peripheral ER sheets but largely missing from the ER tubules and NE. The role of sheet-enriched proteins was confirmed by the observation that the over-expression of each of them results in drastic proliferation of ER sheets. In addition, the relative expression of these proteins and tubule-forming proteins determines the balance between ER tubules and sheets. However, even the depletion of all three proteins does not completely eliminate ER sheets, suggesting the existence of additional sheet-forming factors (Shibata et al., 2010).

A common feature of Climp63, p180, and kinectin is that they contain coiled-coil domains. Climp63 has a large coiled-coil domain in the ER lumen that bridges the two membranes, controlling the width of ER sheets (Klopfenstein et al., 2001) (Fig. 3). The coiled-coil domains of kinectin and p180 are cytosolic. These domains have been speculated to attach to membranes as long rods, maintaining the flatness of the sheets (Fig. 3). Interestingly, when one or several of these proteins are depleted from cells, the width of the ER sheets decreases (Shibata et al., 2010). This observation suggests that the default state of the cisternal structure in the ER has a concave surface with a narrower width. The main action of Climp63 is thought to be maintenance of a larger distance between apposing ER membranes, whereas p180 and kinectin flatten the surface. A well-controlled luminal space generated by these, and



Fig. 3. Mechanisms for generating ER sheets. Proteins like Climp63 (blue) form a luminal bridge *via* the coiled-coil domain. Proteins like p180 and kinectin (gray) are also enriched in sheets and form a flat scaffold with their cytosolic coiled-coil domains. Curvature-stabilizing proteins (pink) localize at the edge and maintain the high curvature. Polysomes prefer sheets and may also facilitate sheet formation.

possibly other, mechanisms may guarantee tight ER sheet stacking, if necessary, and accommodate sufficient luminal components, such as chaperones.

Additional players in ER sheet formation may be polysomes. The existence of polysomes on the surface of the ER may influence membrane shape. Disassembly of translating ribosomes converts some ER sheets into tubules (Puhka et al., 2007) and redistributes some sheet-preferring proteins into the tubular region (Shibata et al., 2010). The association between sheet formation and polysomes is consistent with the idea that a relatively flat sheet surface provides a more suitable platform for polysomes, and rough ER corresponds to ER sheets in general. The association also explains why components of the translocon complex, which mediates the translocation of nascent polypeptides across ER membranes, are enriched in ER sheets.

#### 3.2. Help from the tubule-forming proteins

The similarity between the luminal width of ER sheets and the diameter of ER tubules indicates that the curvature at the crosssection of ER tubules or at the edge of ER sheets is generated by the same mechanism. Thus, the tubule-forming proteins can be speculated to also participate in sheet formation. Reticulons and DP1/Yop1p are proposed to form arc-like oligomers, which could localize to the edge of the sheets and fit the curvature nicely (Fig. 3). Indeed, endogenous or over-expressed reticulons are observed at the edge of ER sheets in mammalian, yeast, and plant cells (Hu et al., 2009; Nziengui et al., 2007; Shibata et al., 2010; Sparkes et al., 2010). Consistent with the proposal, reticulons are up-regulated during ER sheet proliferation (Benyamini et al., 2009). Given their dual roles in ER shaping, reticulons and DP1/Yop1p are better termed as "curvature-stabilizing proteins". These proteins may actively control the relative amounts of sheets and tubules in the ER.

#### 3.3. Generation of the nuclear envelope

The NE consists of two parallel membranes, the outer nuclear membrane (ONM) and the inner nuclear membrane (INM), which connect at the nuclear pore. One determinant of NE shape is the Linker of Nucleoskeleton and Cytoskeleton (LINC) complex, which consists of Sad1 and UNC-84 (SUN) protein in the INM and the

klarsicht, ANC-1, and syne/nesprin homology (KASH) protein in the ONM (Starr and Fridolfsson, 2010). SUN protein interacts with KASH protein through its C-terminal SUN domain, forming a bridge that spans the perinuclear space (Padmakumar et al., 2005). Depletion of either component causes large bulges in the NE (Crisp et al., 2006). Recent structural data revealed that the SUN domain of SUN2 forms a trimer consisting of a leaf-like domain that provides a potential binding platform for the KASH domain, and a stalk region that connects to the INM. Oligomerization of the SUN domain appears to be important as SUN protein and the KASH domain may form a 3:3 complex (Zhou et al., 2012). The N-termini of SUN proteins attach to nuclear lamin, whereas the N-termini of KASH proteins bind to cytoplasmic cytoskeleton proteins; thus, the LINC complex also functions in nuclear migration and positioning (Zhang et al., 2009), and possibly nuclear shaping, with the help of cytoskeleton proteins.

The distance between the INM and ONM ( $\sim$ 28 nm) is shorter than the distance between the two membranes of the peripheral ER sheets (~50 nm). The SUN-KASH interaction and Climp63 likely exert opposite forces on the apposing membranes due to the different lengths of these bridges. A higher degree of membrane bending is also indicated at the edge of the NE sheets, i.e. around the nuclear pore. This curvature is likely stabilized by the core scaffolding nucleoporins Nup84 complex (Shibata et al., 2009). The Nup84 complex contains Sec13p, a component of the COPII coat that is required for ER-Golgi transportation (Siniossoglou et al., 1996). The Sec13-Nup145 complex is structurally reminiscent of the Sec13p-Sec31p complex in the COPII coat (Hsia et al., 2007), which forms a curved lattice in COPII-coated vesicles. In addition, the nucleoporin Nup133, which belongs to the Nup84 complex, has an amphipathic helix called the ALPS (ArfGAP1 lipid packing sensor) motif in its N-terminal region. The ALPS motif is characterized by the enrichment of serine and threonine in the hydrophilic side of the amphipathic helix, rendering it hypersensitive to membrane curvature (Drin et al., 2007). These motifs in nucleoporins may even stabilize the curvature or actively deform membranes around the nuclear pore. Several other nucleoporins, including Nup188, Nup170, Nup85, and Nup120 in yeast and Nup 214 in humans, are predicted to have an ALPS-like domain and may use the same strategy to facilitate nuclear membrane shaping (Drin et al., 2007).

#### 1441

#### 4. Regulation of ER morphology by the cytoskeleton

Like many other organelles, the ER has a close relationship with the cytoskeleton, which has been proposed to provide the driving forces for ER movement and morphological transitions. In animal cells, microtubules play a major role in ER remodeling. Treatment with nocodazole, a microtubule disassembly reagent, causes dramatic changes in ER morphology (Bannai et al., 2004; Shibata et al., 2009; Terasaki et al., 1986). Two types of microtubule-dependent ER remodeling have been documented. First, ER-associated motor protein mediates ER sliding along the existing microtubule. Second, the attachment of ER membranes on the growing tips of microtubules through tip attachment complexes (TACs) allows the extension of ER tubules (Fig. 1) (Waterman-Storer and Salmon, 1998).

Kinesin-1 is a motor protein that transports cargo toward the plus end of the microtubule (Bola and Allan, 2009). Kinesin-1 has been reported to drive the movement of ER tubules, and an ER membrane protein, kinectin, serves as the anchor (Kumar et al., 1995; Toyoshima et al., 1992). Depletion of kinectin results in shrinkage of the ER towards the perinuclear region (Santama et al., 2004). Overexpression of the inhibitory domain of either kinectin or kinesin-1 blocks their interaction (Santama et al., 2004) and results in clustering of the ER network and interfered transportation of ER into the cellular lamella during migration (Santama et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2010). As kinectin is enriched in ER sheets and over-expression of kinectin causes sheet expansion, the kinesin-1 and kinectin interaction is likely not the major mechanism for motor proteins pulling ER tubules.

Compared with motor protein-driven ER sliding, TAC-mediated ER dynamics contribute to only a minor portion of microtubulerelated ER mobility (Grigoriev et al., 2008; Shibata et al., 2009). ER-resident protein STIM1 has been suggested to play a role in this process. STIM1 is an essential component of store-operative Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry. The growing ER tip and the plus end of the elongating microtubule are often labeled by STIM1 puncta, and STIM1 binds directly to EB1, a microtubule plus end binding protein. Depletion of either STIM1 or EB1 dramatically reduces TAC-dependent ER movement (Grigoriev et al., 2008). The interaction between STIM1 and EB1 allows STIM1-containing ER tubules to reach the plasma membrane and activate Orai, a Ca<sup>2+</sup> release-activated Ca<sup>2+</sup> (CRAC) channel residing in the plasma membrane, for Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake. STIM1–EB1-dependent ER rearrangement appears to be used for calcium storage regulation, a special function of the ER.

Additional ER membrane proteins, including Climp63, p180, and REEP1, have been found to bind microtubules directly (Klopfenstein et al., 1998; Ogawa-Goto et al., 2007; Park et al., 2010). Overexpression of these proteins leads to microtubule bundling and is correlated with distorted ER morphology, but the physiological significance of these interactions remains to be determined. The role of Climp63 as a luminal ER spacer does not rely on its microtubulebinding ability (Klopfenstein et al., 1998, 2001; Vedrenne et al., 2005). Climp63 has been suggested to facilitate protein translocation by anchoring ER sheets to microtubules and reducing the mobility of the translocon complex (Nikonov et al., 2007). Whether microtubule binding helps the sheet-enriched proteins achieve proper ER dynamics remains to be tested. Recently, REEP1, a family member of DP1/REEP5, was shown to bind microtubules directly through its C-terminal region (Park et al., 2010). The depletion of REEP1 in cells results in only minor defects in the tubular ER network, but deletion of the microtubule-binding region in REEP1 is associated with HSP. Further investigation is needed to understand the microtubule-related influence of these proteins on the ER.

Although the role of actin filaments in ER remodeling is considered less important in mammalian cells, it should not be simply ignored. Recently, myosin-Va (MVa) was reported to transport ER into the dendritic spines of Purkinje neurons (Wagner et al., 2011). ER tips that grow into dendritic spines are MVa-positive and insensitive to nocodazole treatment. The absence of ER in the dendritic spines of MVa-knockout neurons can be rescued by re-introducing wild-type protein, but not its mutant (Wagner et al., 2011). These findings are consistent with that fact that myosin being capable of short-range ER mobility *in vitro* (Tabb et al., 1998; Wollert et al., 2002). The role of actin filaments is even more prominent in plant and yeast cells, in which the actin filaments, but not microtubules, in these cells significantly decreases the rate of ER remodeling (Prinz et al., 2000).

#### 5. Conclusion

Great progress has been made over the last few years in understanding how ER morphology is generated, maintained, and regulated. However, many questions still need to be answered. Experimental evidence is needed to prove the wedge shape and arc formation of the curvature-stabilizing proteins. Large-scale proteomic studies have reported that these proteins are the targets of several post-translational modifications, whether they are regulated in such ways during ER remodeling is not clear. Understanding how ATL mediates homotypic fusion is another important goal. How different mechanisms cooperate, and whether any additional ones are involved, is still unknown. Finally, the issues concerning ER sheet formation and proliferation are largely unknown. The NE, which consists of specialized ER sheets, may utilize similar mechanisms but with different components. How the NE is shaped and reassembled during mitosis remains to be determined.

Investigations of ER shaping and remodeling will allow us to pursue the functional significance of the morphological ER domains and its implications in related human diseases. In the case of HSP, whether particular ER function is affected or the disease is a result of general ER malfunction linked to morphological defects needs to be clarified. In addition, the integrity and dynamics of the ER are tightly associated with other organelles, particularly the Golgi apparatus. Whether the indirect impact of ER morphology on the Golgi contributes to pathogenic mechanisms remains to be tested. Finally, models proposed for the generation of ER tubule curvature by integral membrane proteins, GTP-driven membrane fusion, and ER sheet formation could be applied as a general principle to the shaping and remodeling of other organelles.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank Peiqi Huo and Yan Ding for their help with the figures, and Dr. Alicia M. Prater for proofreading the manuscript. J.H. is supported by the National Basic Research Program of China (973 Program, Grant 2010CB833702), NSF of China (Grant 31171284), and an International Early Career Scientist grant from the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

#### References

- Anwar K, Robin WK, Condon A, Zhang M, Ghirlando R, Hu J, et al. The dynamin-like GTPase Sey1p mediates homotypic ER fusion in S. cerevisiae. The Journal of Cell Biology 2012;197:209–17.
- Audhya A, Desai A, Oegema K. A role for Rab5 in structuring the endoplasmic reticulum. The Journal of Cell Biology 2007;178:43–56.
- Bannai H, Inoue T, Nakayama T, Hattori M, Mikoshiba K. Kinesin dependent, rapid, bi-directional transport of ER sub-compartment in dendrites of hippocampal neurons. Journal of Cell Science 2004;117:163–75.
- Baumann O, Walz B. Endoplasmic reticulum of animal cells and its organization into structural and functional domains. International Review of Cytology 2001;205:149–214.
- Benyamini P, Webster P, Meyer DI. Knockdown of p180 eliminates the terminal differentiation of a secretory cell line. Molecular Biology of the Cell 2009;20:732–44.

- Bernales S, McDonald KL, Walter P. Autophagy counterbalances endoplasmic reticulum expansion during the unfolded protein response. PLoS Biology 2006;4:e423.
- Bian X, Klemm RW, Liu TY, Zhang M, Sun S, Sui X, et al. Structures of the atlastin GTPase provide insight into homotypic fusion of endoplasmic reticulum membranes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2011;108:3976–81.
- Bola B, Allan V. How and why does the endoplasmic reticulum move? Biochemical Society Transactions 2009;37:961–5.
- Brands A, Ho TH. Function of a plant stress-induced gene, HVA22. Synthetic enhancement screen with its yeast homolog reveals its role in vesicular traffic. Plant Physiology 2002;130:1121–31.
- Byrnes LJ, Sondermann H. Structural basis for the nucleotide-dependent dimerization of the large G protein atlastin-1/SPG3A. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2011;108:2216–21.
- Chen J, Stefano G, Brandizzi F, Zheng H. Arabidopsis RHD3 mediates the generation of the tubular ER network and is required for Golgi distribution and motility in plant cells. Journal of Cell Science 2011;124:2241–52.
   Crisp M, Liu Q, Roux K, Rattner JB, Shanahan C, Burke B, et al. Coupling of the
- Crisp M, Liu Q, Roux K, Rattner JB, Shanahan C, Burke B, et al. Coupling of the nucleus and cytoplasm: role of the LINC complex. The Journal of Cell Biology 2006;172:41–53.
- Drin G, Casella JF, Gautier R, Boehmer T, Schwartz TU, Antonny B. A general amphipathic alpha-helical motif for sensing membrane curvature. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 2007;14:138–46.
- Du Y, Ferro-Novick S, Novick P. Dynamics and inheritance of the endoplasmic reticulum. Journal of Cell Science 2004;117:2871–8.
- Fassier C, Hutt JA, Scholpp S, Lumsden A, Giros B, Nothias F, et al. Zebrafish atlastin controls motility and spinal motor axon architecture via inhibition of the BMP pathway. Nature Neuroscience 2010;13:1380–7.
- Fawcett DW. The Cell. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 1981.
- Grigoriev I, Gouveia SM, van der Vaart B, Demmers J, Smyth JT, Honnappa S, et al. STIM1 is a MT-plus-end-tracking protein involved in remodeling of the ER. Current Biology: CB 2008;18:177–82.
- Hsia KC, Stavropoulos P, Blobel G, Hoelz A. Architecture of a coat for the nuclear pore membrane. Cell 2007;131:1313–26.
- Hu J, Shibata Y, Voss C, Shemesh T, Li Z, Coughlin M, et al. Membrane proteins of the endoplasmic reticulum induce high-curvature tubules. Science 2008;319:1247–50.
- Hu J, Shibata Y, Zhu PP, Voss C, Rismanchi N, Prinz WA, et al. A class of dynaminlike GTPases involved in the generation of the tubular ER network. Cell 2009;138:549–61.
- Klopfenstein DR, Kappeler F, Hauri HP. A novel direct interaction of endoplasmic reticulum with microtubules. The EMBO Journal 1998;17:6168–77.Klopfenstein DR, Klumperman J, Lustig A, Kammerer RA, Oorschot V, Hauri HP.
- Klopfenstein DR, Klumperman J, Lustig A, Kammerer RA, Oorschot V, Hauri HP. Subdomain-specific localization of CLIMP-63 (p63) in the endoplasmic reticulum is mediated by its luminal alpha-helical segment. The Journal of Cell Biology 2001;153:1287–300.
- Kumar J, Yu H, Sheetz MP. Kinectin, an essential anchor for kinesin-driven vesicle motility. Science 1995;267:1834–7.
- Le Lan C, Neumann JM, Jamin N. Role of the membrane interface on the conformation of the caveolin scaffolding domain: a CD and NMR study. FEBS Letters 2006;580:5301–5.
- Lee C, Chen LB. Dynamic behavior of endoplasmic reticulum in living cells. Cell 1988;54:37–46.
- Lee M, Paik SK, Lee MJ, Kim YJ, Kim S, Nahm M, et al. Drosophila Atlastin regulates the stability of muscle microtubules and is required for synapse development. Developmental Biology 2009;330:250–62.
- McMahon HT, Gallop JL. Membrane curvature and mechanisms of dynamic cell membrane remodelling. Nature 2005;438:590–6.
- Montenegro G, Rebelo AP, Connell J, Allison R, Babalini C, D'Aloia M, et al. Mutations in the ER-shaping protein reticulon 2 cause the axon-degenerative disorder hereditary spastic paraplegia type 12. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 2012;122:538–44.
- Nikonov AV, Hauri HP, Lauring B, Kreibich G. Climp-63-mediated binding of microtubules to the ER affects the lateral mobility of translocon complexes. Journal of Cell Science 2007;120:2248–58.
- Nziengui H, Bouhidel K, Pillon D, Der C, Marty F, Schoefs B. Reticulon-like proteins in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: structural organization and ER localization. FEBS Letters 2007;581:3356–62.
- Ogawa-Goto K, Tanaka K, Ueno T, Tanaka K, Kurata T, Sata T, et al. p180 is involved in the interaction between the endoplasmic reticulum and microtubules through a novel microtubule-binding and bundling domain. Molecular Biology of the Cell 2007;18:3741–51.
- Okamoto, M, Kurokawa K, Matsuura-Tokita K, Saito C, Hirata R, Nakano A. Highcurvature domains of the ER are important for the organization of ER exit sites in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Journal of Cell Science 2012. [Epub ahead of print]. Orso G, Pendin D, Liu S, Tosetto J, Moss TJ, Faust JE, et al. Homotypic fusion of ER mem-
- branes requires the dynamin-like GTPase atlastin. Nature 2009;460:978–83. Padmakumar VC, Libotte T, Lu W, Zaim H, Abraham S, Noegel AA, et al. The inner
- nuclear membrane protein Sun1 mediates the anchorage of Nesprin-2 to the nuclear envelope. Journal of Cell Science 2005;118:3419–30. Park SH, Zhu PP, Parker RL, Blackstone C. Hereditary spastic paraplegia proteins
- REEP1, spastin, and atlastin-1 coordinate microtubule interactions with the tubular ER network. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 2010;120:1097–110.
- Parton RG, Hanzal-Bayer M, Hancock JF. Biogenesis of caveolae: a structural model for caveolin-induced domain formation. Journal of Cell Science 2006;119:787–96.

- Patel SK, Indig FE, Olivieri N, Levine ND, Latterich M. Organelle membrane fusion: a novel function for the syntaxin homolog Ufe1p in ER membrane fusion. Cell 1998;92:611–20.
- Pendin D, Tosetto J, Moss TJ, Andreazza C, Moro S, McNew JA, Daga A. GTP-dependent packing of a three-helix bundle is required for atlastin-mediated fusion. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2011;108:16283–8.
- Porter KR, Yamada E. Studies on the endoplasmic reticulum, V. Its form and differentiation in pigment epithelial cells of the frog retina. The Journal of Biophysical and Biochemical Cytology 1960;8:181–205.
- Praefcke GJ, McMahon HT. The dynamin superfamily: universal membrane tubulation and fission molecules? Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 2004;5:133–47.
- Prinz WA, Grzyb L, Veenhuis M, Kahana JA, Silver PA, Rapoport TA. Mutants affecting the structure of the cortical endoplasmic reticulum in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. The Journal of Cell Biology 2000;150:461–74.
- Puhka M, Vihinen H, Joensuu M, Jokitalo E. Endoplasmic reticulum remains continuous and undergoes sheet-to-tubule transformation during cell division in mammalian cells. The Journal of Cell Biology 2007;179: 895–909.
- Ridge RW, Uozumi Y, Plazinski J, Hurley UA, Williamson RE. Developmental transitions and dynamics of the cortical ER of Arabidopsis cells seen with green fluorescent protein. Plant & Cell Physiology 1999;40:1253–61.
- Salinas S, Proukakis C, Crosby A, Warner TT. Hereditary spastic paraplegia: clinical features and pathogenetic mechanisms. Lancet Neurology 2008;7:1127–38.
- Santama N, Er CP, Ong LL, Yu H. Distribution and functions of kinectin isoforms. Journal of Cell Science 2004;117:4537–49.
- Schiefelbein JW, Somerville C. Genetic control of root hair development in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Cell 1990;2:235–43.
- Shibata Y, Hu J, Kozlov MM, Rapoport TA. Mechanisms shaping the membranes of cellular organelles. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 2009;25:329–54.
- Shibata Y, Shemesh T, Prinz WA, Palazzo AF, Kozlov MM, Rapoport TA. Mechanisms determining the morphology of the peripheral ER. Cell 2010;143:774–88.
- Shibata Y, Voeltz GK, Rapoport TA. Rough sheets and smooth tubules. Cell 2006;126:435–9.
- Shibata Y, Voss C, Rist JM, Hu J, Rapoport TA, Prinz WA, et al. The reticulon and DP1/Yop1p proteins form immobile oligomers in the tubular endoplasmic reticulum. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 2008;283: 18892–904.
- Siniossoglou S, Wimmer C, Rieger M, Doye V, Tekotte H, Weise C, et al. A novel complex of nucleoporins, which includes Sec13p and a Sec13p homolog, is essential for normal nuclear pores. Cell 1996;84:265–75.
- Snapp EL, Hegde RS, Francolini M, Lombardo F, Colombo S, Pedrazzini E, et al. Formation of stacked ER cisternae by low affinity protein interactions. The Journal of Cell Biology 2003;163:257–69.
- Sparkes I, Tolley N, Aller I, Svozil J, Osterrieder A, Botchway S, et al. Five Arabidopsis reticulon isoforms share endoplasmic reticulum location, topology, and membrane-shaping properties. The Plant Cell 2010;22:1333–43.
- Starr DA, Fridolfsson HN. Interactions between nuclei and the cytoskeleton are mediated by SUN-KASH nuclear-envelope bridges. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 2010;26:421–44.
- Tabb JS, Molyneaux BJ, Cohen DL, Kuznetsov SA, Langford GM. Transport of ER vesicles on actin filaments in neurons by myosin V. Journal of Cell Science 1998;111(Pt 21):3221–34.
- Terasaki M, Chen LB, Fujiwara K. Microtubules and the endoplasmic reticulum are highly interdependent structures. The Journal of Cell Biology 1986;103:1557–68.
- Tolley N, Sparkes I, Craddock CP, Eastmond PJ, Runions J, Hawes C, et al. Transmembrane domain length is responsible for the ability of a plant reticulon to shape endoplasmic reticulum tubules in vivo. The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology 2010;64:411–8.
- Toyoshima I, Yu H, Steuer ER, Sheetz MP. Kinectin, a major kinesin-binding protein on ER. The Journal of Cell Biology 1992;118:1121–31.
- Vedrenne C, Klopfenstein DR, Hauri HP. Phosphorylation controls CLIMP-63mediated anchoring of the endoplasmic reticulum to microtubules. Molecular Biology of the Cell 2005;16:1928–37.
- Voeltz GK, Prinz WA, Shibata Y, Rist JM, Rapoport TA. A class of membrane proteins shaping the tubular endoplasmic reticulum. Cell 2006;124:573–86.
- Voeltz GK, Rolls MM, Rapoport TA. Structural organization of the endoplasmic reticulum. EMBO Reports 2002;3:944–50.
- Wagner W, Brenowitz SD, Hammer 3rd JA. Myosin-Va transports the endoplasmic reticulum into the dendritic spines of Purkinje neurons. Nature Cell Biology 2011;13:40–8.
- Waterman-Storer CM, Salmon ED. Endoplasmic reticulum membrane tubules are distributed by microtubules in living cells using three distinct mechanisms. Current Biology: CB 1998;8:798–806.
- West M, Zurek N, Hoenger A, Voeltz GK. A 3D analysis of yeast ER structure reveals how ER domains are organized by membrane curvature. The Journal of Cell Biology 2011;193:333–46.
   Wollert T, Weiss DG, Gerdes HH, Kuznetsov SA. Activation of myosin V-based motil-
- Wollert T, Weiss DG, Gerdes HH, Kuznetsov SA. Activation of myosin V-based motility and F-actin-dependent network formation of endoplasmic reticulum during mitosis. The Journal of Cell Biology 2002;159:571–7.
- Zhang X, Lei K, Yuan X, Wu X, Zhuang Y, Xu T, et al. SUN1/2 and Syne/Nesprin-1/2 complexes connect centrosome to the nucleus during neurogenesis and neuronal migration in mice. Neuron 2009;64:173–87.

- Zhang X, Tee YH, Heng JK, Zhu Y, Hu X, Margadant F, et al. Kinectin-mediated endoplasmic reticulum dynamics supports focal adhesion growth in the cellular lamella. Journal of Cell Science 2010;123:3901–12.
- Iamella. Journal of Cell Science 2010;123:3901–12.
  Zhao X, Alvarado D, Rainier S, Lemons R, Hedera P, Weber CH, et al. Mutations in a newly identified GTPase gene cause autosomal dominant hereditary spastic paraplegia. Nature Genetics 2001;29:326–31.
- Zheng H, Kunst L, Hawes C, Moore I. A GFP-based assay reveals a role for RHD3 in transport between the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus. The Plant Journal: For Cell and Molecular Biology 2004;37:398–414.
- Zhou Z, Du X, Cai Z, Song X, Zhang H, Mizuno T, et al. Structure of Sad1–UNC84 homology (SUN) domain defines features of molecular bridge in nuclear envelope. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 2012;287:5317–26.
- Journal of Biological Chemistry 2012;287:5317–26. Zhu PP, Soderblom C, Tao-Cheng JH, Stadler J, Blackstone C. SPG3A protein atlastin-1 is enriched in growth cones and promotes axon elongation during neuronal development. Human Molecular Genetics 2006; 15:1343–53.
- Zurek N, Sparks L, Voeltz G. Reticulon short hairpin transmembrane domains are used to shape ER tubules. Traffic 2011;12:28–41.